



Delivering effective, networked social prescribing services

Desktop review: focus on non-medical, patientfocused Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS) roles related to social prescribing and their impact

Published by Dr Sarah Robinson and Carrie Jackson December 2022

Executive Summary

Social Prescribing is a way of connecting patients to practical, community-based support, including access to advice on employment, housing and debt, as a means of addressing their social, health or economic needs, and promoting well-being and independence. The prescription can take many forms, depending on the community and resources available, and patients' needs.

Social prescribing using primary care-based link workers is increasingly promoted in the UK¹. Despite a high level of support from policymakers, high-quality evidence on the effectiveness of the link worker model of social prescribing is scarce². There is also limited knowledge on how best to implement the link worker approach so that link workers can be embedded and integrated into primary care settings to maximise their effectiveness and sustainability³.

Implementing social prescribing and link workers within primary care at scale is unlikely to be a 'quick fix' not a panacea for mitigating health inequalities in deprived areas, but is a credible intervention for healthcare professionals and patients, and emerging evidence is promising (although complicated to capture in an empirically pure methodology).

Aims of this paper

The desktop review summarises the evidence of impact of three patient focused, nonmedical Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS) roles. The three roles identified were;

- 1) Care Coordinators;
- 2) Social Prescribing Link Workers;
- 3) Health and Wellbeing Coaches

Due to the distinct lack of evaluations of Health and Wellbeing Coaching and the Care Coordinator roles in the context of supporting patients in primary care, and the fact that these are relatively new roles, this desktop review focused on the Social Prescribing Link Worker role.

¹ Local Government Association 2016, Public Health Wales, 2018 Scottish Parliament Health and Sports Committee, 2019; Department of Health NI, 2017

² Bickerdike et al, 2017; Mossabir et al, 2015; Gottleib et al, 2017; Husk et al, 2019; Mercer et al, 2019

³ Gottlieb et al, 2018; Pescheny et al, 2018

Contents

Executive Summary	2
Aims of this paper	2
Desktop review methodology	4
What do we mean by Social Prescribing?	5
Summary and observations from the review	6
A rationale for Social Prescribing	7
Social Prescribing roles as defined within the literature	8
Models of Social Prescribing as defined within the literature	9
Characteristics of Social Prescribing schemes as defined within the literature 1	1
Facilitators and barriers to implementing Social Prescribing services as identified within the literature1	2
Service user perceptions of patient-focused, non-medical ARRS roles1	5
Effectiveness of Social Prescribing on patient outcomes1	6
Cost-Effectiveness of Social Prescribing programmes1	7
Final summary on impact2	0
References2	1
Appendix one: Search Strategy3	1

Desktop review methodology

The search strategy and review methodology is fully documented in appendix one.

One hundred and thirty-nine separate publications were reviewed. Of these twelve were systematic reviews (2015-2021) of previous SP studies conducted over the past fifteen years, seven were scoping reviews of the literature on SP all of which had been undertaken within the past six years, three provided research protocols for evaluations that are currently underway, and twenty-two were case study reports of SP initiatives across the UK published between 2011-2021.

Ten papers included in the review provided detailed qualitative evaluation reports of social prescribing initiatives, thirteen on cost implications and outcomes of SP and fifteen papers had a policy focus. The remaining publications focused on data modelling, theoretical underpinnings of SP and presenting logic models.

There was a distinct lack of evaluations of Health and Wellbeing Coaching and the Care Coordinator roles in the context of supporting patients in primary care. Papers that related to health and wellbeing coaching focused on sports performance and wellbeing were excluded. They tended to have a focus on functional movement for cyclists and swimmers or on how the use of Artificial Intelligence (AI) could enhance health and wellbeing coaching.

Additional search terms were used to see if more focused papers could be generated by exploring health promotion, self-care and health behaviours literature but yielded nothing that could be helpful to this review. Tierney *et al.* (2021) are currently undertaking an NIHR funded study to explore the Link Worker role recognising the gaps and challenges associated with its implementation.

What do we mean by Social Prescribing?

The Institute for Social Prescribing (SP) defines SP as "a process that enables healthcare professionals to introduce people to a range of practical, social and emotional support to boost their health and wellbeing." The literature identifies a wide range of issues with clarity around the definition and it is used interchangeably with terms such as community connecting, care navigating or other similar terms. Whatever terminology is used, at its heart SP is about person-centred relationships – between patients, their carers and the professionals that support them, and between the organisations in the places we live and work. When these relationships work well, social prescribing builds resilience - in individuals, in the health and care workforce and in communities. NHS England describes social prescribing as "a way for local agencies to refer people to a link worker. Link workers give people time, focusing on 'what matters to me' and taking a holistic approach to people's health and wellbeing. They connect people to community groups and statutory services for practical and emotional support." SP models of delivery differ significantly across the UK in relation to the actual activities offered (health, social and economic), and with regard to the level of support given to patients following referral (Moffatt et al., 2017).

SP aims to address social determinants of health. Psychosocial problems, such as debt, housing concerns, social isolation, domestic abuse, family problems, grief, and loss, can impact peoples' mental and physical health, wellbeing, and self-care. (Morris *et al* 2011; Manchester Alliance for Community Care 2010; Marmot *et al.*, 2010). It is estimated that 20% of GP appointments have a social element (Parkinson and Buttrick 2015; Matthews-King, 2016) but GP capacity to address social problems that precipitate and perpetuate ill health are often limited (Popay *et al.* 2007; Law Commission 2015).

SP is a way of connecting patients to practical, community-based support, including access to advice on employment, housing and debt (NHS England, <u>2016</u>a), as a means of addressing their social, health or economic needs, and promoting well-being and independence. The prescription can take many forms, depending on the community and resources available, and patients' needs. It may include a knitting circle, walking group, bereavement support group, or volunteering. In this way, it is also seen as a way of improving the integration of health and social care, improving patients' experience (Wilson and Booth, 2015) and reducing demand on primary and acute care service, as well as contributing to other government objectives in relation to employment, volunteering and learning (The King's Fund, <u>2018</u>).

Summary and observations from the review

Recent evaluations of UK-based SP interventions are concerned with schemes that employ link workers or community navigators to signpost participants to communitybased activities. The most frequently cited recent literature reviews on SP suggest that the evidence base is less well developed than UK policy documents may imply to support these assumptions. **The evidence base is still small, inconclusive and weak** (Bickerdike *et al.*, 2017; Moffatt *et al.*, 2017; Polley *et al.*, 2017). Many **studies are small scale, do not have a control group, focus on progress rather than outcomes, or relate to individual interventions rather than the social prescribing model**. Much of the evidence available is qualitative and **relies on selfreported outcomes** (The Kings Fund, 2018). There are **difficulties in conceptualising what social prescribing is** and what good evidence for a complex SP service might look like (Husk *et al.*, 2019)

Although studies of SP generally showed positive results, with reports of improvements in health and well-being outcomes, some reductions in the use of primary and acute health care and a reduction in costs to the NHS or wider system, many results were not clinically or statistically significant and at a high risk of bias. Moffatt *et al.*'s review (2017) concluded that they had found little or no evidence of sustainable impact on physical health, patient activation, impact on frailty or use of outpatient, community and social care services or their associated costs.

The most rigorous systematic review of social prescribing (Bickerdike *et al.* 2017) included only 15 studies, of which only one was a randomised controlled trial, and this was conducted over 20 years ago (Grant *et al.* 2000). This review found the evidence to be of low quality, though most studies were positive about SP. Later descriptive reviews have reached similar conclusions (Chatterjee *et al.*, 2018; Pescheny *et al.*, 2018). A recent systematic review by Husk *et al.*, (2020) explored the process of social prescribing synthesizing findings from 109 studies. This review highlighted the importance of context and capacity, but also that SP should be developed in line with complex intervention and behaviour change approaches. It is recognised that further high-quality research is required (Public Health England 2015; National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2016), but approaches that shift the focus from individual to community wellbeing must be informed by relevant theory.

In Bickerdike *et a*l's systematic review (2017) only 15 studies were identified with some form of link-worker and these were limited by poor design and reporting (such as small numbers, lack of controls, use of validated measures, short follow-up) and encompassed a mix of delivery models, making them difficult to compare or synthesise (Social Prescribing Network, <u>2016</u>). Furthermore, many studies failed to disentangle the processes of programme enrolment from the nature of link-worker engagement and adherence to referred activities (Husk *et al.*, 2016) when evaluating effectiveness, making it difficult to attribute causality to these differing components of SP (Husk *et al.*, 2019).

A rationale for Social Prescribing

The need for social prescriptions in the current health and care sector is clear; 84% of general practitioners say they have an unmanageable workload (NHSE 2019 a, b, c, d) and approximately 20% of patients go to their general practitioner for primarily social problems (Jani and Gray 2019, Low Commission 2015).

Social prescriptions seem to be largely accepted by GPs in England as a possible intervention for their patients with 80% saying that social prescriptions should be available from general practitioner surgeries (The Work Foundation, 2017) and 59% acknowledging that social prescriptions could reduce workload (RCGP, 2018).

The use of social prescriptions is also on the rise. NHS England recently issued national guidance to support the more active rollout of social prescriptions nationally to build on the nearly 69,000 social prescriptions referrals in 2017/2018 (NHSE, 2019 d, e). However, the uptake and spread by commissioners, clinicians and patients have been limited and heterogeneous as evidenced by a recent analysis that shows that in London alone, there were approximately 250,000 patients who could have benefited from a social prescription but did not receive one – something that could have resulted in £90 million in savings to the NHS (Polley *et al.,* 2017).

If utilised properly, social prescriptions could help to deliver value-based primary care (Watson *et al.* 2017) by improving patient and population-level outcomes while optimising resource utilisation by:

- i) **Addressing social determinants of health:** Reducing reliance on the biomedical model while also giving a route for health and care systems to address social determinants of health.
- ii) **Promoting self-care:** Working with individuals with long-term physical and mental health conditions so they can build the knowledge, skills and confidence to manage their condition.
- iii) **Creating jobs:** Because social prescriptions are largely delivered locally, their active use can help to support job creation by funnelling resources to local voluntary, community and social enterprises.
- iv) **Building stronger communities:** The delivery of social prescriptions necessitates that the health and care sector must identify and actively work with and support local community assets, which will in turn help to establish and deepen community connections. (NHSE, 2019e).

Although a robust evidence base is lacking (Bickerdike *et al.*, 2017) data is emerging that demonstrates positive effects on individuals through improvements in quality of life and emotional wellbeing as well as improvements in the use of primary care and other health services including: (NHSE 2019 e, Polley *et al.*, 2017).

 An average 28% reduction (range: 2–70%) reduction in demand for general practitioner services.

- An average 24% reduction (range 8–26.8%) in Accident and Emergency attendances.
- An average Social Return on Investment of £2.3 per £1 invested in the first year (Polley *et al.*, 2017; Jani and Gray, 2019).

Personalised care roles as defined within the literature

There are a variety of roles such as: social prescribers, link workers, care coordinators, health advisers, health trainers, community navigators, well-being coordinators, care navigators, wellbeing coaches and health coaches. Tierney *et al.*, (2019) conducted a survey to determine how care navigation is interpreted and implemented by CCGs in England. 90% of CCGs (n=147) had some form of care navigation running in their area but a total of 75 different titles were used to describe the role. SP can range from simple signposting to a non-medical local service or community group by a GP or member of the primary care team, to referral to a link worker. The link worker helps to determine the person's needs and connect them to an appropriate local service or resource (Kimberlee 2015; Husk *et al.*, 2016; Social Prescribing Network, <u>2016</u>).

Descriptions of different personalised care roles

Role	Descriptor	Source
Health and wellbeing coach	Health and wellbeing coaches predominately use health coaching skills to support people with lower levels of patient activation to develop the knowledge, skills, and confidence to manage their health and wellbeing, whilst increasing their ability to access and utilise community support offers. They may also provide access to self-management education, peer support, and social prescribing.	https://www.hea Ithierfutures.co.u k/primary-care- workforce/clinical /health-and- wellbeing-coach
Care Coordinators	Care coordinators provide extra time, capacity, and expertise to support patients in preparing for or in following- up clinical conversations they have with primary care professionals. They will work closely with the GPs and other primary care professionals within the PCN to identify and manage a caseload of identified patients, making sure that appropriate support is made available to them and their carers, and ensuring that their changing needs are addressed. They focus delivery of the comprehensive model to reflect local priorities, health inequalities or population health management risk stratification.	https://www.hea Ithierfutures.co.u k/primary-care- workforce/clinical /care-co- ordinator
SP link worker (also referred to as care navigators ⁴	Usually undertaken by practice receptionist staff or practice managers as an enhancement to their existing roles, with 'active signposting' as the foundation of the role. The role aims to achieve several goals: to free up GP consultations; make the most appropriate use of the non-GP workforce; increase receptionists' job satisfaction; and make it easier for patients who require a GP appointment to access one.	NHSE b, 2017

What they all have in common is their personalised coaching approach to support people's motivation for positive behaviour change. Health coaching skills enables social prescribers to hold conversations that engage people so that not only do they talk about what's important to them, increase their sense of resourcefulness and are motivated to change their behaviour. Skills in health coaching enable practitioners to have conversations with people that support them to take greater control of their own health and wellbeing. However, currently the evidence base for the impact of the personalised care roles outlined in this project is thin and emergent.

Models of Social Prescribing as defined within the literature

Pescheny *et al.* (2018) in a systematic review of facilitators and barriers to implementing SP services identify six SP models:

⁴ While distinctions are made between SP link workers and receptionists undertaking CN there can be an overlap in the literature there is often the use of different titles in different settings/locations (Hamilton-West *et al.*, 2020). Currently whilst there is a national workforce competency framework for care navigators, at the time of writing this report there is no parallel frameworks for link workers, care coordinators or health and wellbeing coaches.

Model 1: Information service

This service is an information-only service, with advertising and directory access to SP in a primary care practice.

Model 2: Information service and telephone line

This service advertises SP on leaflets and notice boards in a primary care practice. Based on this information, patients can self-initiate a telephone discussion with a worker.

Model 3: Primary care referral

Primary health care professionals assess patients during consultation and refer them to SP services if appropriate, for example if patients have non-clinical issues and require psychosocial support. Referrals to SP services are opportunistic.

Model 4: Practice-based generic referral worker

Primary care patients can be referred by health workers or self-refer to an SP link worker. Clinics are held in the GP surgery, so that it can act as a "one-stop-shop". Model 5: Practice-based specialist referral worker

A specialist worker works from primary care practice and patients can be referred through primary care referral or self-referral. Direct advice and specific services, such as Citizens Advice, may be offered, as well as referral or signposting onwards.

Model 6: Non-primary care based referral worker

Patients are referred to an external referral centre by primary care practice staff, offering one-to-one facilitation, for example an outreach service or set in the community.

Most models have three key elements:

<u>Referral:</u> A General Practitioner (GP), nurse or other health professional refers the patient to, typically, a link worker. Referrals can also be made by pharmacists, social care or local authority staff, and by other voluntary and community sector (VCS) services. Many schemes welcome referrals from community outreach and engagement workers too, and self-referrals and recommendations from family and friends may also be possible. The referral recognises that someone has underlying issues and would benefit from a different kind of intervention in addition to, or instead of, medical treatment.

<u>Prescription:</u> Working with the patient, the link worker identifies activities or services that can improve their health, wellbeing or personal situation. This is more than just signposting. There is a genuine partnership between the individual and the link worker: building rapport, exploring interests and barriers, and connecting patients with activities and services that build on their potential.

<u>Activities:</u> The individual takes part in "prescribed" activities and services, mostly provided by the local VCS. These vary from one-off activities and individual support to open ended specialist support services.

In addition to these six models, Kimberlee *et al.* (2014, 2015) identify that link workers roles can also vary from 'light-touch' (referring people to community assets, typically

voluntary transport, befriending, advocacy services) to 'holistic'- a more instrumental, person-centred approach that engages the individual to identify their needs, set wellbeing goals, and provide practice and emotional support to address these over a period of time, typically three months. The 'light-touch' approach (typically reported in UK studies), could increase dependency on primary care for addressing social problems and welfare needs (Cawston 2011), The 'holistic' model aims to improve a patient's self-efficacy and capacity to maintain or improve their health and well-being over the longer term. The key aspect of any social prescribing programme is this interaction between the link worker and the individual (or a carer) over the course of one's programme participation. This interaction distinguishes social prescribing from other community-based approaches to health promotion and disease prevention (Bickerdike *et al.* 2017). It is clear from the literature, that as of yet, different SP models exist. It is likely, that different models face different challenges during the implementation process and delivery of the service, due to the involvement of different pathways, organisations, and stakeholders.

NHSE Summary Guide for A Good Social Prescribing Model should

- See a person as a person, connecting them to practical and emotional support
- Recognise the needs of different parts of the local community including having a specific offer for young people
- Support referrals from all local agencies (including GP, local authority, pharmacies, fire service, police, job centres, VCSE and self-referral)
- Commission VCSE services to receive referrals and deliver services.
- Be locally and collaboratively commissioned by partnerships of PCNs, CCG and LA commissioners, working with VCSE and people/family/carers
- Help to build a better voluntary and community sector, by identifying gaps in local provision and finding creative ways of encouraging (and funding!) community development alongside local commissioners and partners
- Involve VCSE from the start, ensuring ongoing support for community groups and organisations to help them to safely and sustainably manage referrals – this might mean supporting them with funding in the long term

*NHSE Summary Guide 2019 b

Characteristics of Social Prescribing schemes as defined within the literature

Morris *et al.*, (2020) conducted a systematic review of studies that described the characteristics of SP scheme. Of the 29 evaluations included in the review, the majority related to general social prescribing schemes/initiatives/programmes (69%) or social prescribing pilots (31%) that involved:

- Referral by a health or social care professional directly to an activity such as the arts (21%)
- Referral to a link worker or similar (79%)

Almost half of the schemes evaluated (41%) were targeted at people experiencing either social isolation, loneliness or both. The majority (59%) cited that they were targeting people who either had frequent primary or secondary healthcare presentations or had presented with some form of non-clinical need, such as support for self-management. Just over half of the evaluations (52%) stated they were targeting people with one or more long-term conditions. A total of 41% of the schemes involved the production of a personalised Wellbeing Plan, co-produced with service users to help them achieve their goals. Of those schemes that specifically mentioned a target age group, most were for those over 18, although some were for older people. Most of the schemes evaluated were England-specific (83%) and, of those, almost 30% were from Greater London.

Facilitators and barriers to implementing Social Prescribing services as identified within the literature

Previous research found that several common facilitators and barriers emerged across integrated care pilots in the UK (RAND Europe 2012, Ling *et al.*, 2012). Factors that appeared to be particularly relevant for integrated care include the existence of training for new staff, staff stability, physician involvement, and information technology systems (RAND Europe, 2012). In addition, many of the barriers and facilitators to the implementation of integrated care pilots were found to be those of any large-scale organisational change. Examples of such factors include quality of leadership at the top and within groups, flexibility of organisational culture, and the availability of resources.

Pescheny *et al.*, (2018) conducted a systematic literature review of studies assessing SP services based in general practice and involving a navigator role to identify the facilitators and barriers to implementing SP services in England. In total, the included studies comprised of one conference report (Polley *et al.* 2016) and seven evaluation reports (Brandling *et al.* 2011; ESRC 2013; Farenden *et al.*, 2012; The Health Foundation 2014; Age UK undated, Dayson, Bashir and Pearson 2013). Based on these studies the review identified 7 key facilitators for successful implementation as follows:

i) <u>Implementation approach</u>

Applying a phased rollout approach to implement SP interventions, i.e., changes are made over a period of time with a scheduled plan of steps. It has the potential to support the development of new and effective partnerships between GP surgeries, navigators, and the third sector and allows time to develop a shared understanding of the programme and expectations between involved partners. It is important to plan a realistic 'lead in' time for setting up SP services, considering that it can take several weeks to set up initial meetings with GP practices.

ii) Organisation and management

Organising a series of workshops to design and discuss an SP service prior to its implementation and standardised training for involved partners, briefings, and networking events to share best practice were identified as facilitators to implementation and delivery of SP services.

iii) Shared understanding and attitudes

Shared understanding among clinical and non-clinical staff of what can be expected by each partner, the scope of the SP service, which patients to refer, how patients can be helped, and the capacity and skills offered by a navigator facilitates the implementation and delivery of SP services. Shared understanding between partners from different sectors, commissioners, service users, and stakeholders, is crucial to manage expectations and to prevent tensions and disappointment during the implementation and delivery of SP services.

iv) <u>Relationships and communication</u>

Creating new relationships between partners based on reciprocity and trust may facilitate the implementation and delivery of SP services. A good relationship

between navigators and other partners (i.e., general practice staff and service providers), is particularly important, as it promotes effective communication. Feedback on service users' journeys and outcomes to GPs and practice staff, via the navigator e.g., during regular meetings or a short periodic report, helps general practice staff to understand how patients progress after their referral. In addition, structured contact and regular communication between navigators and practice staff served as a reminder for SP, encouraged a higher number of referrals, and ensured greater appropriateness of referrals.

v) Organisational readiness

Lessons learnt from the SP pilot in Brighton and Hove show that general practices need to be 'Navigator ready' before a navigator can start to work in a practice. The following is recommended by Farenden *et al.* (2012) for a GP surgery to become 'Navigator ready':

- 1. It is important that the SP team meets the whole practice team (clinical and nonclinical staff) before SP commences. This could happen during a training session or practice meeting. The SP team should ensure they work flexibly when arranging a visit.
- 2. A partnership agreement needs to be signed between the SP service and the GP surgery hosting it.
- 3. GPs agree to make regular referrals to the SP service. Numbers depend on navigators' capacity.
- 4. Navigators should be treated as a member of the primary care staff team. To ensure this happens, surgery staff need to understand the scope of the SP

programme and the navigator's role and skills, provide a room for the navigator, which are accessible for patients and allow meetings without interruptions, clarify how and when the navigator can contact the GP directly, and provide a lead staff member who can answer queries in relation to surgery systems and communications.

'Navigator ready' practices are crucial to facilitate the implementation of SP and to ensure that an effective and equitable service is delivered to service users (Farenden *et al.*,2012). A key lesson learnt from the SP programme in Maryfield is that GPs are more likely to make regular referrals to SP when the practice culture supports holistic and psychosocial approaches (The Health Foundation, 2014). Moving away from the biomedical model of health towards a biopsychosocial model of health, considering alternatives to traditional medical interventions, and addressing wider determinants of health, i.e., considering social, psychological, and environmental determinants of health instead of focusing solely on medical needs, facilitate the implementation and delivery of SP services (The Health Foundation, 2014).

vi) General practice staff engagement

Health professionals and practice staff engagement involving regular referrals to SP, is a facilitator and crucial for the implementation and delivery of SP services. Strategies that may encourage and maintain engagement of health professionals include feedback letters from navigators to prescribers, regular education events and training sessions, encouraging navigator attendance at surgery staff meetings, having information stalls within practice reception areas, and a brief and easy-to-complete referral form to reduce the workload for prescribers. Having SP champions based in general practice and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), fosters support, encourages regular referrals to the SP service, raises the profile, and perceived value of SP among general practice staff [28, 31, 34]. Support and supervision. The support of the practice manager is vital for arranging meetings with GPs, to build relationships between the SP team and the general practice, and to increase awareness about SP during the ' lead in' time, implementation, and delivery. A supportive structure for

navigators can facilitate the implementation and delivery of SP services; however, a diverse nature of the support structure may require the adherence to multiple different interests which may have felt conflicting for navigators at sometimes. A framework for the support that should be provided by navigators, facilitates the consistent delivery of SP services.

Finally, the review by Pescheney et al., (2018) identified

vii) <u>Infrastructure</u>

A wide range of good quality third sector based services and activities, that are easily accessible with public transport, facilitate the implementation and delivery of SP services.

In a process evaluation published in 2021 Chng *et al.*, found that successful implementation of SP programmes was associated with GP buy-in, collaborative leadership, good team dynamics, link worker support, and the absence of competing innovations. The study was the Deep End project evaluating the community link workers of seven GP practices in deprived areas of Glasgow over a 2 year period. They concluded that even in a well-resourced government-funded programme, the majority of practices involved had not fully integrated the link worker programme within the first 2 years.

Implementing social prescribing and link workers within primary care at scale is unlikely to be a 'quick fix' for mitigating health inequalities in deprived areas (Chng *et al.* 2021).

Service user perceptions of patient-focused, non-medical ARRS roles

Moffatt et al. (2017) undertook a qualitative evaluation of service user perceptions of the Link Worker social prescribing role in improving health and well-being for people with long-term conditions. The study was conducted in an inner-city area of West Newcastle Upon Tyne ranked 40th most socio-economically deprived in England. The intervention was a Link Worker social prescribing programme comprising personalised support to identify meaningful health and wellness goals, ongoing support to achieve agreed objectives and linkage into appropriate community services. Thirty adults with multimorbidity (mental health problems, low self-confidence and social isolation) and all adversely affected physically, emotionally and socially by their health problems. The intervention engendered feelings of control and self-confidence, reduced social isolation and had a positive impact on health-related behaviours including weight loss, healthier eating and increased physical activity. Management of long-term conditions and mental health in the face of multimorbidity improved and participants reported greater resilience and more effective problem-solving strategies. They concluded that tackling complex and long-term health problems requires an extensive holistic approach not possible in routine primary care. This model of social prescribing, which takes into account physical and mental health, and social and economic issues, was successful for patients who engaged with the service. Future research on a larger scale is required to assess when and for whom social prescribing is clinically effective and cost-effective.

Most importantly, it is the quality of this relationship that is argued to be the reason for choosing social prescribing as the person-centred approach to use and is cited as a key reason for some of the social prescribing programme successes (Wildman *et al.*, 2019; Hanlon *et al.*, 2019). Key elements of this relationship are an open, trusting, non-judgemental, long-term, person-centred relationship, whereby the link-worker acts as a flexible coach, facilitator and patient advocate for support and personal change (Moffatt *et al.*, 2017; Polley *et al.* 2017).

Effectiveness of Social Prescribing on patient outcomes

Much of the existing literature on SP focuses on whether it is effective or not in terms of patient outcomes, including its capacity to contribute to the reduction of deep-seated inequalities (Mackenzie, Skivington and Fergi, 2020; Bickerdike *et al.*,2017; Mossair *et al.*, 2015; Chatterjee *et al.*, 2017). However, there is both limited evidence of effectiveness (and cost-effectiveness) and a limited number of high-quality quantitative studies with suitable control groups (Local Government Association 2016; Public Health Wales, 2018, Scottish Parliament 2019; Department of Health NI 2017). There is also a significant knowledge gap regarding the process of implementation (Gottlieb *et al.*, 2018; Moore *et al.*, 2015; Chatterjee *et al.*, 2017).

Elston et al., (2019) undertook a before-and-after study to evaluate the impact of a 12week holistic link-worker intervention on people over 50 years old with multiple longterm conditions, as part of an SP programme in South Devon. Most users achieved all their living-well goals set with Co-ordinators and showed a statistically significant, meaningful change in their health and social care outcomes over the following 12 weeks. The largest mean change was in the Outcomes Star™, which given the magnitude is likely to have increased scores on most of its seven dimensions (such as looking after yourself, social participation and feeling positive). This was corroborated by an increase in WEMWBS, indicating improvements in people's functioning, social relationships, sense of purpose as well as feelings of well-being and happiness (Fat et al., 2017). These changes were supported by many qualitative case studies that documented significant changes to peoples' lives socially, physically and mentally, brought about by working with co-ordinators to address their social, physical and economic needs. However, these positive changes were not accompanied by a uniform decrease in health and social care use. Although just under half of the cohort saw a decrease or no change in activity, on average there was an overall increase in activity and costs, significant for in-patient, community and social care services. A significant proportion of this increase was accounted for by a rapid, escalation in morbidity and frailty in just over a dozen people. Given that most of this elderly cohort were referred by intermediate care, a rapid deterioration in health might not be unexpected. Elston et al., (2019) concluded their primary findings emphasise the importance of better understanding the types of people who would benefit most from SP. They infer that their results suggest that the majority of older people over 50 with long-term conditions stand to benefit from holistic SP irrespective of age, sex and levels of activation and frailty, including the frail elderly.

A systematic review of 51 studies by Vidovic *et al.*, (2021) looked at SP initiatives conducted between 2014 and 2020 concerned with studies that examine the impact of social prescribing on four key concepts: loneliness, social isolation, well-being, and connectedness. The review by Vidovic *et al.*, (2021) identified *impact on the system* as the second most common level of impact identified, with studies on health care usage accounting for the majority of the 22 studies in this category. Most of the studies examine self-reported healthcare accident and emergency (A&E) visits and hospital admissions. Following SP programme implementation, eight studies reported a

reduction in health care appointments. Nine reported reduced A&E attendance and seven found reduced hospital admissions. Other studies report changes in the number of outpatient appointments, cost savings and effectiveness of referral pathways and hospital discharge rates. Only one of the studies was able to causally link social prescribing to a reduction in costs of social care (Elston *et al.*, 2019). Three other studies offer insight into the pathways through which impact can be achieved, the challenges social prescribing programmes are likely to face, and the views of health professionals on the value of social prescribing in reducing the demand on health care services (Whitelaw et al., 2017; Farenden *et al.*, 2015; Kellezi *et al.*, 2019). They conclude that given the lack of conceptual and methodological clarity, future studies should focus on building and expanding theoretical frameworks and developing measures that could be used to capture the impact of a social prescribing intervention on a community.

A study by Polley et al., (2019) aimed to investigate and collate all the outcomes that are being experienced in link worker-based social prescribing schemes. They concluded that the data from their study has clearly identified that social prescribing operates in a complex interconnected way, as opposed to a linear way associated with a biomedical and pharmaceutical paradigm. This complexity requires a holistic approach to be adopted by link workers to ensure a person's needs are fully met - in essence, a paradigm shift. Whilst a degree of measuring and monitoring of outcomes was seen as necessary, link workers noted that using an outcome measure in the consultation could at times be inappropriate and that referral reasons were not always the issue prioritised as in need of immediate support by the service users. All of these points raise the need to be pragmatic and flexible about approaches to data collection, measurement and monitoring. The relationship between the individual and the community was seen as crucial in the social prescribing journey. Many stakeholders explained how social prescribing supported the capacity to make connections and the number of human connections made. This led to more engagement in VCSE based organisations and improved wellbeing by service users. They recommend that as social prescribing is scaled up, the broad range of outcomes identified by stakeholders would map more appropriately onto a community capitals framework (Flora and Flora, 2013; Parsfield et al., 2015; Roseland 2012). This would enable the interconnected elements required to create sustainable communities to be incorporated and valued in research studies, particularly where the economic value of social prescribing is being determined at scale. Without sustainable communities and a VCSE sector that is appropriately and fairly valued for the contribution it makes, social prescribing at scale is at risk of failing.

Cost-Effectiveness of Social Prescribing programmes

From 2017, £45 million was made available over five years to Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to train receptionists and clerical staff to undertake enhanced roles in active signposting, by becoming CNs, and managing clinical correspondence (NHSE b, 2017). Whether the CN role is meeting these expressed aims is currently unclear. One small-scale peer reviewed study (Siddiqui *et al.*, 2017) and two case studies (NHSE, 2017a) suggest that care navigation can reduce the number of 'potentially avoidable'

(Siddiqui *et al.* 2017) or 'inappropriate' (NHSE,b 2017) GP appointments carried out by practices. For example, over a 7-month period, care navigation was calculated to have saved 1,685 GP appointments across an area in the North of England (NHSE,b 2017). Other evidence suggests that the signposting of patients who are judged not to require a GP appointment to allied health professionals, non-medical staff or alternative services has the potential to improve patients' access to care and enable their problems to be resolved more quickly (Siddiqui *et al.*, 2017). However, more robust outcomes evidence is needed to see how the role is impacting the wider primary care system.

Polley et al ., (2017) undertook a systematic review of SP on health care demand and cost implications. They reviewed 14 papers which met their inclusion criteria. Seven papers looked at the effect on demand for General Practice, reporting an average 28% reduction in demand for GP services following referral. Results ranged from 2% (Kimberlee et al., 2014) to 70% (Longwill, 2014). Five studies (Kimberlee, 2016; Dayson and Bashir, 2014; Bertotti et al., 2015; Farenden et al., 2015; Kimberlee et al., 2014) looked at the effect on Accident and Emergency (A&E) attendances reporting an average 24% fall in attendance following referral. Results ranged from 8% (Kimberlee et al., 2014) to 26.8% (Farenden et al, 2015). Five studies looked at the effect on demand for other secondary care services (Palmer et al., 2017; Kimberlee, 2016; Dayson and Bashir, 2014; Farenden et al., 2015; Brandling et al., 2011). Three reported a fall in emergency hospital admissions in the months following referral (6% (Kimberlee, 2016), 7% (Dayson and Bashir, 2014) and 33.6% (Farenden et al., 2015) and two studies measured secondary care referrals after social prescribing. One reported statistically significant drops in secondary care referrals at 12 months (55%) and 18 months (64%) (Brandling et al., 2011) and the other projected reductions in demand of 0.1 consultant psychiatrists per annum per patient and 0.2 Community Mental Health Team nurse consultations per annum per patient (Longwill, 2014). However, in contrast, one study showed that the likelihood of referral to secondary mental health care more than doubled after referral (Grayer et al., 2008).

Eight studies calculated value for money assessments such as cost-benefit analysis (Burgess, 2014; Windle *et al.*, 2016). None of the studies used the traditional costeffectiveness or full cost-utility analysis. Estimates varied widely from an annual Return on Investment (ROI) of 0.11 (in the first year of operations) (Dayson and Bashir, 2014) to 0.43 (Kimberlee, 2016). The randomised controlled trial reported higher cost of care per patient in the intervention group than the control, though no value for money assessments were calculated (Grant *et al.*, 2000).

Four studies carried out broader Social Return on Investment (SROI) calculations. SROI puts an estimated monetary value on the sum of benefits accruing to all stakeholders, not just the NHS. Studies varied in the combination of stakeholders and benefits selected for inclusion in SROI calculations. Patients, Local Authorities (LAs) and the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) were commonly cited stakeholders. Improved mental wellbeing outcomes and higher rates of employment were examples of positive

externalities considered in SROI but excluded from ROI analysis. The mean SROI (Weld *et al.*, 2015) was £2.3 per £1 invested in the first year (Kimberlee, 2016).

Polley et al. (2017) concluded that the evidence for social prescribing is broadly supportive of its potential to reduce demand for primary and secondary care. The quality of that evidence is weak, however, and without further evaluation, it would be premature to conclude that a proof of concept for demand reduction had been established. Similarly, the evidence that social prescribing delivers cost savings to the health service over and above operating costs is encouraging but by no means proven or fully quantified. Link worker social prescribing schemes often include several interventions, some of which are evidence-based and some of which are not. The success or otherwise of a link worker model will depend on the combined success of each intervention. It may be disingenuous, therefore, to conclude that paucity of evidence to support the effectiveness of a link worker model implies paucity of evidence for individual interventions. These interventions may still be worthwhile uses of healthcare resources and this could explain their persistence and growth in the UK. Equally, paucity of evidence to support the link worker model should not preclude further evaluation of it. It is more challenging to gain the standard of evidence for complex interventions than is routinely expected of simpler ones. In fact, the standard of evidence to date on the link worker social prescribing model is approximately the standard expected for a complex intervention at this stage in its development (Craig et al., 2008).

In an increasing proportion of projects, the cost of funding is shared with external stakeholders to the NHS (Kimberlee, 2016). Sharing the cost of social prescribing improves ROI and makes it a more affordable and worthwhile intervention for the health service to consider. It also makes sense to the non-NHS stakeholder, if sufficient benefits of social prescribing accrue to them too. Joint funding may thus make social prescribing link worker projects such as these more likely to proceed and become more embedded in local communities.

Final summary on impact

Overall, social prescribing interventions appear promising with strong political momentum and are widely accepted by healthcare professionals and patients.

There are emerging promising signs of impact for social prescribing, as Polley et al.'s 2017 review of 14 papers reported an average reduction in demand for GP services following referral of 28%. However, with a range of 2-70%, the issue with establishing causal links is apparent. With all 15 studies examined by Vidovic et al. (2021) failing to establish causal links, definitive evidence is still thin on the efficacy of social prescribing, and more needs to be done to identify why there is a such a wide range of impacts across different studies.

A similar line of reasoning applies to the cost-efficacy of social prescribing – despite the mean SROI of $\pounds 2.3$ per $\pounds 1$ spent (Kimberlee, 2016), more needs to be done to definitively identify the usefulness of social prescribing in terms of its demand-for-care, and thus cost, reduction.

In summary, implementing social prescribing and link workers within primary care at scale is unlikely to be a 'quick fix' not a panacea for mitigating health inequalities in deprived areas, but is a credible intervention for healthcare professionals and patients, and emerging evidence is promising (although complicated to capture in an empirically pure methodology).

References

Alden, S.; Wigfield, A.; Kispeter, E. (2015). Age UK's Cascade Training Programme Evaluation Report. Circ. Cent. Int. Res. Care Labour Equal. Univ. Leeds. p. 60. Available online: https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/polopoly_fs/1.546406!/file/AgeUKs-Cascade- Training-Programme.pdf

Age UK. Social prescribing. A model for partnership working between primary are and the voluntary sector.

http://www.ageconcernyorkshireandhumber.org.uk/uploads/files/Social%20Prescribing%20Report%20new.pdf.

Armstrong N, Tarrant C, Martin G, Manktelow B, Brewster L, Chew S. (2017). *Independent evaluation of the feasibility of using the patient activation measure in the NHS in England: final report*. Leicester: University of Leicester; 2017.

Barnett K, Mercer SW, Norbury M, *et al.* (2012). Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: a cross- sectional study. *Lancet.* 2012; 380(9836): 37–43.

Bertotti M, Martinaityte L and Farr R. (2014). *An evaluation of Newham community prescribing scheme: shareholders' views and experiences*. Unpublished report commissioned by the Newham clinical commissioning group. 2014. Available on request.

Bertotti, M., Frostick, C., Findlay, G. Harden, A., Netuveli, G., Renton, A., Carnes, D., Sohanpal, R. Hull, S and Hutt, P (2015). *Shine 2014 final report Social Prescribing: integrating GP and Community Assets for Health*, Health Foundation

Bertotti, M, Frostick, C, Tong, J and Netuveli, G (2017). *The Social Prescribing Service in the London Borough of Waltham Forest. Final evaluation report*. Commissioned by the London Borough of Waltham Forest and the Waltham Forest Clinical Commissioning Group, Institute for Health and Human Development, University of East London

Bickerdike, L., Booth, A., Wilson, P. M., Farley, K., & Wright, K. (2017). Social prescribing: Less rhetoric and more reality. A systematic review of the evidence. *BMJ Open*, *7*(4), e013384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013384%</u>.

Blakemore, A, Hann, M, Howells, K, Panagioti, M, Sidaway, M, Reeves, D and Bower, P (2016). Patient activation in older people with long-term conditions and multimorbidity: correlates and change in a cohort study in the United Kingdom. *BMC Health Services Research*, 16, 1–11.

Bourdieu P. (1986). The forms of capital. In: Richardson JG, editor. *Handbook of theory and research for the sociology of education*. New York: Greenwood; 1986.

Brandling J, House W, Howitt D, Sansom A.(2011). "New routes": pilot research project of a new social prescribing service provided in Keynsham.

Brunton, L, Tazzyman, A, Hodgson, D, Ferguson, J & Nelson, P (2020). '<u>The challenges of</u> integrating 'signposting' into general practice: perceptions of staff involved in care navigation and social prescribing roles', Health Services Research (HSR) UK 2020, Online, 1/07/20 -3/07/20.

Burgess, G. (2014). *Evaluation of the Cambridgeshire Timebanks*, Cambridge Centre for Housing & Planning Research, University of Lincoln.

Calderón-Larrañaga, S. Milner, Y., Clinch, M., Greenhalgh, T. and Finer, S. (2021). Tensions and opportunities in social prescribing. Developing a framework to facilitate its implementation and evaluation in primary care: a realist review. *BJGP Open*; 5 (3): BJGP0.2021.0017.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.3399/BJGPO.2021.0017

Carpiano RM. (2006).Toward a neighborhood resource-based theory of social capital for health: can Bourdieu and sociology help? *Social Science Medicine*;62:165–75.

Cawston, P. (2011). Social prescribing in very deprived areas. On behalf of the deep end steering group. *The British Journal of General Practice*, 61, 35.

Chatterjee, H. J., Camic, P. M., Lockyer, B., & Thomson, L. J. M. (2018). Non-clinical community interventions: A systematised review of social prescribing schemes. *Arts & Health*, *10*(2), 97-123.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17533015.2017.1334002.

Chng NR, Hawkins K, Fitzpatrick B, O'Donnell CA, Mackenzie M, Wyke S, Mercer SW. (2021). Implementing social prescribing in primary care in areas of high socioeconomic deprivation: process evaluation of the 'Deep End' community Links Worker Programme. *British Journal of General Practice*, Nov 25;71(713):e912-e920. doi: 10.3399/BJGP.2020.1153.

Centre for Reviews and Dissemination(2015). *Evidence to inform the commissioning of social prescribing.* London.

Chng NR, Hawkins K, Fitzpatrick B, O'Donnell CA, Mackenzie M, Wyke S, Mercer SW. (2021). Implementing social prescribing in primary care in areas of high socioeconomic deprivation: process evaluation of the 'Deep End' community Links Worker Programme. *British Journal of General Practice*, Nov 25;71(713):e912-e920. doi: 10.3399/BJGP.2020.1153.

Coop and British Red Cross (2019). *Tackling-Loneliness-and-Isolation-Connecting-Communities*. Available online: https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/media/6027/download

Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M. (2008). Medical Research Council Guidance. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. *BMJ*. Sep 29;337:a1655. doi: 10.1136/bmj.a1655.

Dayson, C. and Leather, D. (2020). *Evaluation of HALE Community Connectors Social Prescribing Service 2018-19,* Centre for Regional Economic and Social Research, Sheffield Hallam University, Sheffield.

Dayson, C. and Bashir, N. (2014). The social and economic impact of the Rotherham Social Prescribing Pilot: Main Evaluation Report, Centre for Regional Economic and Social Research (CRESR), Sheffield Hallam University.

Dayson, C.; Bashir, N. (2014). *The Social and Economic Impact of the Rotherham Social Prescribing Pilot: Main Evaluation Report*. Available online: https://www4.shu.ac.uk/research/cresr/sites/shu.ac.uk/files/social-economic-impact-rotherham.pdf

Dayson C, Bashir N, Pearson S. (2013) *From dependence to independence: emerging lessons from the Rotherham social prescribing pilot*. <u>https://www.shu.ac.uk/centre-regional-economic-social-research/publications/from-dependence-to-independence-emerging-lessons-from-the-rotherham-social-prescribing-pilot-summary</u>

Dayson, C.; Bennett, E. (2016). *Evaluation of Doncaster Social Prescribing Service: Understanding Outcomes and Impact*. Available online: https://www4.shu.ac.uk/research/cresr/sites/shu.ac.uk/files/eval-doncaster-social-prescribingservice.pdf

Dayson, C.; Bennett, E. (2017) *.Evaluation of the Rotherham Mental Health Social Prescribing Service 2015/16–2016/17*. Available online: https://www4.shu.ac.uk/research/cresr/sites/shu.ac.uk/files/eval-rotherham-mental-health-

<u>https://www4.shu.ac.uk/research/cresr/sites/shu.ac.uk/files/eval-rotherham-mental-health-</u> social-prescribing.pdf

Dayson, C. (2017). *Evaluating Social Innovations and Their Contribution to Social Value: The Benefits of A "Blended Value" Approach*. Available online: https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/tpp/pap/2017/00000045/0000003/art00006;jsessi onid= 5ffokecerfpb6.x-ic-live-03

Dayson, C.; Damm, C. (2017) .*The Rotherham Social Prescribing Service for People with Longterm Conditions: Evaluation Update*. Available online: https://www4.shu.ac.uk/research/cresr/sites/shu.ac.uk/files/rotherham-social-prescribingevaluation- update.pdf

Department of Health NI . (2017). *Health and wellbeing 2026 — delivering together.* Belfast: Department of Health NI.

Drinkwater, C, Wildman, J, Moffatt, S. (2019). Social prescribing. BMJ, 364: 1285–1285.

Ellison NB, Steinfield C, Lampe C. (2010). *Connection strategies: social capital implications of Facebook-enabled communication practices*. New Media Soc. 13:873–92.

Elston, J, Gradinger, F., Asthana, S., Lilley-Woolnough, C., Wroe, S. Harman, H., Byng, R. (2019). Does a social prescribing 'holistic' link-worker for older people with complex, multimorbidity improve well-being and frailty and reduce health and social care use and costs? A 12-month before-and-after evaluation. *Primary Health Care Research Development.* 20, e135.

Envoy Partnership Self-Care Social Prescribing. (2018). Available online: https://www.kcsc.org.uk/sites/kcsc.org.uk/civi_files/ files/civicrm/persist/contribute/files/Self%20Care/7641_SROI-Report_DIGITAL_AW.pdf.

ERS Research and Consultancy (2013). Newcastle Social Prescribing Project. Final Report. 1–78. Available at: http://www.healthworksnewcastle.org.uk/wp- content/plugins/downloads-manager/upload/

Farenden C, Mitchell C, Feast S, Verdenicci S. (2015). *Community navigation in Brighton & Hove. Evaluation of a social prescribing pilot*. 68. Available at: http://www.bh-impetus.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/CN-Full-Evaluation-Nov- 2015.pdf

Fat, LN, Scholes, S, Boniface, S, Mindell, J and Stewart-Brown, S .(2017). Evaluating and establishing national norms for mental wellbeing using the short Warwick–Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (SWEMWBS): findings from the Health Survey for England. *Quality of Life Research*, 26, 1129–1144

Flora, C.B. and Flora.J.L. (2013). *Rural Communities: Legacy and Change*, 4th Edition. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

Friedli L, Themessl-huber M, Butchart M. (2012). *Evaluation of Dundee equally wellsources of support: social prescribing in Maryfield*. 42. Available at:

https://www.northstaffsccg.nhs.uk/your-ccg/ns-publications/generic-publications/ 1324-social-prescribing-evaluation-dundee/file

Gobeil-Lavoie AP, Chouinard MC, Danish A, *et al*. (2019). Characteristics of self- management among patients with complex health needs: a thematic analysis review. *BMJ Open.* 2019; 9(5): e028344.

Gottlieb LM, Wing H, Adler NE. (2017). A systematic review of interventions on patients' social and economic needs. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine*, (5):719–729.

Gottlieb L, Cottrell EK, Park B, et al.(2018). Advancing social prescribing with implementation science. *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*. 31(3):315–321/

Grant, C., Goodenough, T., Harvey, I., & Hine, C. (2000). A randomised controlled trial and economic evaluation of a referrals facilitator between primary care and the voluntary sector. *BMJ*, *320*(7232), 419–423. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.320.7232.419%</u>.

Grayer, J., Cape J., Orpwood, L., Leibowitz, J, and Buszewics, M. (2008). Facilitating access to voluntary and community services for patients with psychosocial problems: a before-after evaluation, *BMC Family Practice*, 9(27).

Hamilton-West K, Milne A, Hotham S. (2020). New horizons in supporting older people's health and wellbeing: is social prescribing a way forward? *Age and Ageing.* 49(3):319-26.

Hanlon, P, Gray, C.M., Chng, N.R., Mercer, S.W.(2021). Does Self-Determination Theory help explain the impact of social prescribing? A qualitative analysis of patients' experiences of the Glasgow 'Deep-End' Community Links Worker Intervention. *Chronic Illness.* Sep;17(3):173-188. doi: 10.1177/1742395319845427.

Health Education England.(2016). *Care Navigation: A Competency Framework*. https://www.hee.nhs.uk/sites/default/24les/documents/Care%20Navigation%20Competency %20Framework_Final.pdf.

Hibbard, JH, Greene, J and Overton, V .(2013). Patients with lower activation associated with higher costs; delivery systems should know their patients' 'scores'. *Health Affairs* (Millwood), 32, 216–222.

Hibbard J, Gilburt H.(2014). *Supporting people to manage their health: an introduction to patient activation.* London: The King's Fund

Hibbard J. (2014). How do people become good managers of their own health? *BMJ Opinion*. <u>https://blogs.bmj.com/bmj/2014/05/19/judith-hibbard-how-do-people-become-good-managers-of-their-own-health/</u>

Hibbard JH, Stockard J, Mahoney ER, Tusler M. (2004). Development of the patient activation measure (PAM): conceptualizing and measuring activation in patients and consumers. *Health Services Research*. 39:1005–26.

Hibbard JH, Greene J.(2013). What the evidence shows about patient activation: better health outcomes and care experiences; fewer data on costs. *Health Affairs*, 32:207–14.

Holding, E. Thompson, J., Foster, A., Haywood, A. (2020). Connecting communities: A qualitative investigation of the challenges in delivering a national social prescribing service to reduce loneliness. *Health and Social. Care Community*, *28*, 1535–1543.

Husk, K, Blockley, K, Lovell, R, Bethel, A, Bloomfield, D, Warber, S, Pearson, M, Lang, I, Byng, Rand Garside, R (2016). What approaches to social prescribing work, for whom, and in what circumstances? A protocol for a realist review. *Systematic Reviews*, 5, 93.

Husk, K, Elston, J, Gradinger, F, Callaghan, L and Asthana, S (2019). Social prescribing: where is the evidence? *British Journal of General Practice*, 69, 6–7.

Husk, K., Blockley, K., Lovell, R., Bethel, A., Lang, I., Byng, R., & Garside, R. (2020). What approaches to social prescribing work, for whom, and in what circumstances? A realist review. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, *28*(2), 309–324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12839</u>.

Institute for Social Prescribing (2021). *Case studies and insight from practitioners in the South West of England*. <u>https://www.swahsn.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/SWAHSN-Social-</u> <u>Prescribing-Insight-Report-Master-Final_FEB21.pdf</u>

Jani, A., Liyanage, H., Hoang, U., Moore, L., Ferreira, F., Yonova, I., Tzortziou Brown, V. and , de Lusignan, S. (2020). Use and impact of social prescribing: a mixed-methods feasibility study protocol. *BMJ Open* 10:9, doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-037681.

Jani A, Bertotti M, Lazzari A, et al.(2020). Investing resources to address social factors affecting health: the essential role of social prescribing. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*. 2020;113(1):24-27. doi:10.1177/0141076819865864

Jani A, Gray M. (2019). Making social prescriptions mainstream. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*. 112(11):459-461. doi:10.1177/0141076819848304

Kellezi, B., Wakefield, J.R.H.. Stevenson, C., McNamara, N., Mair, E., Bowe, M., Wilson, I., Halder, M.M. (2019). The social cure of social prescribing: A mixed-methods study on the benefits of social connectedness on quality and effectiveness of care provision. *BMJ Open 9*, e033137.

Kiely B, Clyne B, Boland F, *et al.* (2021). Link workers providing social prescribing and health and social care coordination for people with multimorbidity in socially deprived areas (the LinkMM trial): protocol for a pragmatic randomised controlled trial. *BMJ Open* 2021;11:e041809. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-041809

Kimberlee, R. (2015). What is social prescribing? *Advances in Social Sciences Research Journal*, 2, 102–110.

Kimberlee, R (2016) .What is the value of social prescribing? *Advances in Social Sciences Research Journal*, 3, 29–35.

Kimberlee, R., Ward, R., Jones M. and Powell J. (2014). *Proving Our Value: Measuring the economic impact of Wellspring Healthy Living Centre's Social Prescribing Wellbeing Programme for low level mental health issues encountered by GP services.* University of West England.

Kimberlee, R. (2016). *Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group Social Prescribing Service: Evaluation Report*. Available online: https://future.nhs.uk/connect.ti/socialprescribing/view?objectId=40784069 Kimberlee, R., Ward, R., Jones, M., Powell, J. (2014). *Measuring The Economic Impact of Wellspring Healthy Living Centre's Social Prescribing Wellbeing Programme for Low Level Mental Health Issues Encountered by GP Services.* 2014, p. 111. Available online: http://www.wellspringhlc.org.uk/reports/POV_Final_Report_March_2014.pdf

Kilgarriff-Foster A, O'Cathain A. (2015). Exploring the components and impact of social prescribing. *Journal for Public Mental Health*. 14:127–34.

Kinsella S. (2015). *Social prescribing A review of the evidence*. Wirral: Wirral Council Business & Public Health Intelligence Team

Jani A, Liyanage H, Okusi C, Sherlock J, Hoang U, Ferreira F, Yonova I, de Lusignan S. (2020). Using an Ontology to Facilitate More Accurate Coding of Social Prescriptions Addressing Social Determinants of Health: Feasibility Study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* . 22(12):e23721URL: https://www.jmir.org/2020/12/e23721DOI: 10.2196/23721

Ling T, Brereton L, Conklin A, Newbould J, Roland M. (2012). Barriers and facilitators to integrating care: experiences from the English integrated care pilots. *International Journal of Integrated Care*. 12:1–12

Local Government Association . (2016). *Just what the doctor ordered: social prescribing — a guide for local authorities.* London: Local Government Association.

Longwill, A, (2014). *Independent Evaluation of Hackney Well Family Service*, Family Action. https://www.family-action.org.uk/content/uploads/2014/07/WellFamily-Evaluation-Executive-Summary.pdf

Low Commission. (2015). *The role of advice services in health outcomes: evidence review and mapping study.* https://www.thelegaleducationfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Role-of-Advice-Services-in-Health-Outcomes.pdf

Mackenzie M, Skivington K, Fergie G. (2020). 'The state they're in': unpicking fantasy paradigms of health improvement interventions as tools for addressing health inequalities. *Social Science Medicine.* 256:113047.

Manchester Alliance for Community Care (2010.) Self care of long term conditions. A briefing.

https://www.macc.org.uk/sites/macc.org.uk/files/Self%20Care%20Briefing%20%28August%2 02010%29.docx.

Marmot M, Allen J, Goldblatt P, et al. (2010.) *Fair society, healthy lives. The Marmot Review.* <u>http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf</u>

Martikke S. (2017). *Social capital: an overview.* Manchester: Greater Manchester Centre for Voluntary Organisation.

Martin Bell Associates/Elemental Software (2021). *Social Prescribing and the Digital Landscape,* Martin Bell/Elemental, UK.

Mason, J., Gatineau, M., Beynon, C., Gledhhill, R., Clark, R., and Baker, A. (2019). Effectiveness of social prescribing: An evidence synthesis, Public Health England, London .

Matthews-King, A (2016). GP leader appointed clinical champion for social prescribing. *Pulse*, <u>http://www.pulsetoday.co.uk/home/finance-and-practice-life-news/gp-leader-appointed-clinical-champion-for-social-prescribing/20032206.article</u>

Maughan, D. L. Patel, A. and Cooke, M. (2015). Primary-care-based social prescribing for mental health: an analysis of financial and environmental sustainability, *Primary Health Care Research & Development*, doi:10.1017/S1463423615000328

Mercer SW, Fitzpatrick B, Grant L, Chng NR, O'Donnell CA, Mackenzie M, McConnachie A, Bakhshi A, Wyke S. (2017). The Glasgow 'Deep End' Links Worker Study Protocol: a quasi-experimental evaluation of a social prescribing intervention for patients with complex needs in areas of high socioeconomic deprivation. *Journal of Co-Morbidity*. Jan 25;7(1):1-10. doi: 10.15256/joc.2017.7.102.

Mercer SW, Fitzpatrick B, Grant L, et al. (2019). Effectiveness of community-links practitioners in areas of high socioeconomic deprivation. *Annals of Family Medicine*. 17(6):518–525.

Moffatt, S, Steer, M, Lawson, S, Penn, L and O'brien, N .(2017). Link Worker social prescribing to improve health and well-being for people with long-term conditions: qualitative study of service user perceptions. *BMJ Open*, 7, e015203. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-015203

Morris RL, Sanders C, Kennedy AP, et al. (2011). Shifting priorities in multimorbidity: a longitudinal qualitative study of patient's prioritization of multiple conditions. *Chronic Illness* 7(2):147–161, doi:10.1177/1742395310393365.

Morris, D., Thomas, P., Ridley, J. *et al.* (2020). Community-Enhanced Social Prescribing: Integrating Community in Policy and Practice. *International Journal of Community Wellbeing* <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42413-020-00080-9</u>

Mossabir R, Morris R, Kennedy A, et al. (2015). A scoping review to understand the effectiveness of linking schemes from healthcare providers to community resources to improve the health and well-being of people with long-term conditions. *Health and Social Care Community*. 23(5):467–484.

Moore GF, Audrey S, Barker M, et al. (2015). Process evaluation of complex interventions: Medical Research Council guidance. *BMJ.* 350:h1258

Nelson P, Martindale A-M, McBride A, Hodgson D.(2017). *Greater Manchester Primary Care Workforce Strategy: Rapid Literature Review*. 2017. https://www.arcgm.nihr.ac.uk/media/File%20Manager/GM%20Workforce%20Literature%20Re view%20v2%20230517_formatted%20270317.pdf. Accessed 17th Sept 2020.

NHS England (2019a). The NHS Long Term Plan. London: NHS England.

NHS England. (2019b). *Social prescribing and community-based support*. NHS England: Summary guide. London.

NHS England.(2017a). *Training for reception and clerical staff.* https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/gpfv/redesign/gpdp/reception-clerical/.

NHS England. (undated) *Active signposting frees up 80 inappropriate GP appointments a week.* https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/case-studies/active-signposting- frees-up-80-inappropriate-gp-appointments-a-week/.

NHS England. (2017b). *Reception Care Navigation Active Signposting*. https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/west-wake28eld-general- practice-case-study.pdf. Accessed 13th Jul 2020.

NHSE (2019c) *Universal Personalised Care: Implementing the Comprehensive Model*. See <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/universal-personalised-care.pdf</u>

NHS England.(2019d). *Social prescribing: CCG mapping survey results.* Unpublished report commissioned by NHS England.

NHS England.(2019e) *Social Prescribing and Community-Based Support: Summary Guide*. See <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/social-prescribing-community-based-support-summary-guide.pdf</u> (last checked 12 April 2019).

Palmer, D. Wheeler J, Hendrix, E., Sango, P N, Hatzidimitriadou E. (2017). *Social Prescribing in Bexley: pilot evaluation report*, Mind in Bexley.

Parsfield M et al (2015).*Community Capital. The Value of Connected Communities*. RSA Action Research Centre, London.

Pescheny, J., Randhawa, G., Pappas, Y. (2018). Patient uptake and adherence to social prescribing: a qualitative study. *British Journal of General Practice Open*, 2 (3): bjgpopen18X101598. DOI: 10.3399/bjgpopen18X101598

Pitini E, Adamo G, Gray M, Jani A. (2020). Resetting priorities in precision medicine: the role of social prescribing. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*. 113(8):310-313. doi:<u>10.1177/0141076820910325</u>

Polley M, Whitehouse J, Elnaschie S and Fixsen A (2019). *What does successful social prescribing look like – mapping meaningful outcomes,* University of Westminster https://westminsterresearch.westminster.ac.uk/download/3d9a2e11eb7660bdc28ab12fcdf85d 1b97b2414859a9ac56efe98d4310dca06b/674043/Polley%20et%20al%202020%20Mapping% 20meaningful%20outcomes%20in%20Social%20Prescribing.pdf

Polley, M., Bertotti, M., Kimberlee, R., Pilkington, K., and Refsum, C. *A review of the evidence assessing impact of social prescribing on healthcare demand and cost implications*.(2017). University of Westminster https://docs.wixstatic.com/ugd/14f499 75b884ef9b644956b897fcec824bf92e.pdf

Polley, MJ, Fleming, J, Anfilogoff, T and Carpenter, A (2017b). *Making sense of social prescribing.* London: University of Westminster.

Polley M, Dixon M, Pilkington K, Ridge D, Herbert N, Fleming J, et al. (2016). Report of the annual social prescribing network conference.

Popay, J, Kowarzik, U, Mallinson, S, Mackian, S and Barker, J (2007). Social problems, primary care and pathways to help and support: addressing health inequalities at the individual level. Part I: the GP perspective. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 61, 966–971

Public Health England (2015). *A guide to community-centred approaches for health and wellbeing*. Full report. London: Public Health England.

Public Health Wales (2018). *Social prescribing in Wales.* Cardiff: Primary Care Division, Public Health Wales

RAND Europe (2012) National evaluation of the Department of Health's integrated care pilots.

RCGP (2018). Spotlight on the 10 High Impact Actions. Royal College of General Practitioners. *Spotlight on the 10 High Impact Actions*. See <u>https://www.rcgp.org.uk/-/media/Files/Primary-Care-Development/RCGP-spotlight-on-the-10-high-impact-actions-may-2018.ashx?la=en</u>

Roseland M. (2012). *Toward Sustainable Communities Solutions for Citizens and Their Governments* - Fourth Edition. New Society Publishers

Siddiqui F, Sidhu B, Tahir MA. (2017). Using 'Active Signposting' to streamline general practitioner workload in two London-based practices. *BMJ Open Quality*. 2017;6(2):e000146.

Smith, M. and Skivington, K. (2016). *Community Links Perspectives of community organizations on the Community Links Workers Programme pilot and on collaborative working with primary health care*, Institute for Health and Wellbeing, University of Glasgow.

Social Prescribing Network (2016). *Report of the Annual Social Prescribing Network Conference.* Inaugural Social Prescribing Network Conference. London: University of Westminster,

Steventon, A, Bardsley, M, Billings, J, Georghiou, T and Lewis, G (2011). *An evaluation of the impact of community-based interventions on hospital use. A case study of eight Partnership for Older People Projects (POPP)*. <u>https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/social-prescribing</u>

Scottish Parliament Health and Sport Committee (2019). *Social prescribing: physical activity is an investment, not a cost.* Edinburgh: Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body.

Sheffield Hallam University and Sport Industry Research Centre.(2019). *Dance to Health* "*Phase 1 Rollout [test and learn]" Evaluation.* Available online: <u>https://ae-sop.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/63/2019/06/SHU-SIRC-1st-report-FINAL.pdf</u>

The Health Foundation (2014).*Shine final report social prescribing: integrating GP and community assets for health*. 2015; 33. Available at: https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/

The King's Fund. (2018). *What is social prescribing*? [Online]. Available at: kingsfund. org.uk/publications/social-prescribing

The Work Foundation. (2017). *Social Prescribing: A Pathway to Work?* See <u>http://www.theworkfoundation.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/412 Social prescribing.pdf</u>

Thomson LJ, Camic PM, Chatterjee HJ. (2015). *Social prescribing: a review of community referral schemes*. London: University College London; 2015.

Thomson, L.J., Morse, N., Elsden, E., Chatterjee, H.J.(2020). Art, nature and mental health: Assessing the biopsychosocial effects of a "creative green prescription" museum programme involving horticulture, artmaking and collections. *Perspectives on. Public Health* 140, 277–285.

Tierney S, Wong G, Roberts N, *et al.* (2020). Supporting social prescribing in primary care by linking people to local assets: a realist review. *BMC Med*icine,18(1), doi:10.1186/s12916-020-1510-7, pmid:32164681.49

Tierney, S. & Mahtani, L. (2021) Understanding the implementation of link workers in primary care: A realist evaluation to inform current and future policy. Active NIHR project number

NIHR130247. <u>https://fundingawards.nihr.ac.uk/award/NIHR130247</u> (accessed 12 December 2021).

Vidovic D, Reinhardt GY, Hammerton C. (2021). Can Social Prescribing Foster Individual and Community Well-Being? A Systematic Review of the Evidence. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2021; 18(10):5276. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18105276

Wallace E, Salisbury C, Guthrie B, *et al.*(2015). Managing patients with multimorbidity in primary care. *BMJ.* 2015; 350: h176.

Weld, S & the UWE SROI Group (2015). *Financial Evaluation Report & Social Return on Investment (SROI) Analysis.* https://uwe-repository.worktribe.com/output/844999/for-all-healthy-living-centres-healthy-connections-project-final-evaluation-report-and-social-return-on-investment-sroi-analysis

Westminster Research. (2017). A Review of the Evidence Assessing Impact of Social Prescribing on Healthcare Demand and Cost Implications. See

https://westminsterresearch.westminster.ac.uk/download/e18716e6c96cc93153baa8e757f8fe b602fe99539fa281433535f89af85fb550/297582/review-of-evidence-assessing-impact-ofsocial-prescribing.pdf

Whitelaw, S., Thirlwall, C., Morrison, A., Osborne, J., Tattum, L., Walker, S. (2017). Developing and implementing a social prescribing initiative in primary care: Insights into the possibility of normalisation and sustainability from a UK case study. *Primary Health Care Research Development.* . 18, 112–121.

Wigfield, A., Kispeter, E., Alden, S., Turner, R., Clarke, T. (2016) *Age UK's Fit for the Future Project: Evaluation report.* Circ Leeds Available Www AgeUK Org Ukhealth-Wellbeingfit— Fiddlefit—Future, 27 Sept 2016. Available online: https://www.sheffield. ac.uk/polopoly_fs/1.569567!/file/fit-for-the-future-Final-Evaluation.pdf

Wilson, P and Booth, A (2015). *Evidence to inform the commissioning of social prescribing. Evidence Briefing.* York: Centre for Reviews and Dissemination

Windle, K, George T, Porter, R, McKay S, Culliney, M, Walker J, Vos, J, Essam N. Saunders, H. (2016) *Staying Well in Calderdale programme evaluation: final report.* UK: University of Lincoln

World Health Organisation.(2003). *Social Determinants of Health: The Solid Facts*. 2nd ed. See www.euro.who.int/_____data/assets/pdf_file/0005/98438/e81384.pdf

World Health Organization.(2017). *Health systems delivery,* www.who.int/healthsystems/topics/delivery/en/.

Appendix one: Search Strategy

The review focused on analysis of the evidence on social prescribing published over the last 10 years (2011-2021). A snowballing strategy was used to gather evidence from a broader timeline where papers were consistently referred to in recent publications⁵.

Databases searched were EBSCOHost: CINAHL Complete; ASSIA (Applied) SocialSciences Index& Abstracts), British Nursing Index, eBook Collection; E-Journals; MEDLINE with Full Text; Open Dissertations; PsycARTICLES; and PsycINFO. The two additional databases searched were the Web of Science Core Collection and the UK National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). EBSCOHost and Web of Science Core Collection include peer-reviewed scholarly journals published worldwide (including open access journals), as well as conference proceedings and books. NICE includes reports issued by think tanks, non-profit organisations, community health groups, and the government, as well as social science and medical journals such as The BMJ that have national and international reach. The databases were selected on the basis of their usage in social sciences literature (Web of Sciences, EBSCOHost) as well as social prescribing literature (NICE, CINAHL, and MEDLINE via EBSCOHost). Added to these included a search for grey literature on the Future NHS collaborative platform to capture reports published internally by research centres and shared online. The review also searched for grey literature from the Cochrane Library, Google and Google Scholar Open-Grey and reference lists for relevant studies published in peer-reviewed journals. To identify relevant evaluations in UK settings, the websites of the following organisations were searched: The Kings Fund; The Health Foundation; NESTA; Nuffield Trust; Department of Health and Social Care.

The Social Prescribing Observatory Data (RCGP) was reviewed to provide a slide deck of social prescribing referral rates across the East of England and this information was included in a slide deck. The institute for Social Prescribing and National Academy for Social Prescribing websites were also reviewed.

Search Terms

A Boolean search involving a combination of intervention and health keywords was used to explore the academic literature in the databases and grey literature.

Intervention keywords: ('social prescribing' OR 'social prescription' OR 'community navigator' OR 'link worker', OR 'social prescribing link worker' OR 'health

⁵ This led to two papers being included by American authors applied to the UK context.(See Gottlieb)

and wellbeing coach' OR 'care coordinator') AND ('evaluation' OR 'intervention' OR 'trial' OR 'project' OR 'programme' OR 'initiative' OR 'scheme' OR 'case study')

Health keywords: AND ('primary health care ' OR 'primary care' OR 'primary healthcare' OR 'health' 'OR 'wellbeing' OR 'mental health' OR 'health inequalities').

To be included in the review the paper had to meet the following inclusion criteria below.

Inclusion Criteria

Identified reports and publications were screened to see if they fit the following criteria and included if they:

- Were written in English and were in the public domain
- Provided full text
- Focused on reviewing SP in the UK.
- Described an SP service or scheme that involved referral of a patient from primary care to a 'link worker' who would connect the patient with relevant non-medical interventions in the third sector
- Contained information about one or all of the three SP roles
- Reported primary data about SP
- Provided research protocols for evaluating SP, theories and logic models
- Discussed the link between SP and social determinants of health
- Measured impact and outcomes of SP interventions.
- Presented detailed systematic reviews of SP evidence in the UK.
- Reported either i) quantitative data on demand for healthcare services and/or ii) evaluation of social and economic impact of social prescribing.

Results were synthesized by identifying: (1) the extent of evidence about the three personalised care SP roles; (2) the type and quality of evidence used to demonstrate impact; and (3) the impact of social prescribing programmes that are designed to improve key outcome measures on public and preventive health challenges at the individual, system, and community levels.